KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 28 March 2017.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Cllr P Clokie, OBE, Cllr M Dearden, Cllr M Franklin, Cllr F Gooch, Cllr A Horton, Cllr J Knight, Cllr B Luker, Cllr K Morris, Mr T L Shonk (Substitute for Cllr Chris Wells), Cllr Sloan, Cllr P Todd, Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Cllr H Tejan, Dr M R Eddy and Mrs E Bolton

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper (PCC's Chief of Staff) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer)

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

217. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 2 February 2017 (Item 4)

- 1. The Policy Officer clarified that page 5, paragraph 1 under 'Proposed Precept' should read £5 per year rather than £5 per week.
- 2. The Policy Officer confirmed that the Panel's report on the Commissioner's Police and Crime Plan had been published and the Chairman had received a response from the Commissioner confirming that he had accepted the suggestions made by the Panel and amended the wording of the Plan.
- 3. The Chairman thanked the Commissioner for revising the wording of his Plan following comments from the Panel.
- 4. The Commissioner updated Members on the issues raised within the minutes and in particular Mrs Bolton's questions.

RESOLVED that, subject to the above amendment of £5 per year, the minutes of the meeting held on 2 February were an accurate record and that they be signed by the Chairman.

218. Police Cadet Scheme - progress report (*Item B1*)

1. The Police and Crime Commissioner introduced his report on the Police Cadet Scheme. The Commissioner thanked a number of organisations who, from their own budgets, had contributed to the Scheme; he particularly thanked Gravesham Borough Council and the charity Safer Kent.

- 2. The Commissioner explained that the plan was for 12 cadet units in total across Kent. This was with an aim of meeting the demand ensuring that the resources were available where there was demand.
- 3. Kent Police was recruiting a full time Youth Ambassador to work not only with the Police Cadets but with young people across the county.
- 4. The Chairman offered the use of KCC outdoor education facilities for cadet activities and the Commissioner thanked the Chairman for his suggestions and confirmed he would look into them.
- 5. A Member asked whether the Commissioner envisaged that the cadet scheme would result in young people joining the Police Force at an appropriate time. The Commissioner explained that the Cadet scheme gave young people policing experience, and they could apply to join the Force if they were interested.
- 6. A Member congratulated the Commissioner on the scheme, there were benefits but there were also a lot of resources being put in to the scheme and the Member asked how the success of the scheme would be evaluated? The Commissioner confirmed he did not wish to set targets but that he would ensure value for money and ensure that the young people felt that the scheme was worthwhile.
- 7. One Member commented on the £10 per month subscription, there was a concern that some vulnerable young people may not be able to afford this amount. The Commissioner confirmed he had made funding available to the Force to ensure the circumstances of young people did not prohibit them from applying and participating in the scheme.
- 8. In response to a question about safeguarding of cadets and preventing potential radicalisation the Commissioner confirmed that he would provide information outside of the meeting.
- The Commissioner confirmed, in response to the Chairman's question, that the Youth Ambassador would be an individual over 18 employed by Kent Police directly.
- 10. A Member asked for more information about the Commissioner's 'Backing Young People' document. The Commissioner explained that this would be published on Monday alongside the Police and Crime Plan; it pulled together work done by the Commissioner to ensure young people in the county had a voice. The Commissioner wanted to ensure that those who could not vote had a voice and felt they were listened to.
- 11. The Chairman stated that the scheme had the support of the Panel and he wished the scheme well.

RESOLVED that the Police and Crime Panel note the PCC's report on Kent Volunteer Police Cadets and that the Commissioner provides information to Panel members about safeguarding and preventing potential radicalisation.

219. Mental Health - verbal update (focus on progress in engaging others) (*Item B2*)

- 1. The Commissioner said that Kent Police and Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust (KMPT) had agreed a new mental health strategy outlining ways in which organisations can work together to support those in crisis.
- 2. In relation to governance, the Commissioner said this would be underpinned by a Mental Health and Policing Board that the Assistant Chief Constable and the KMPT Chief Executive had invited him to lead, at which he will hold both to account. Kent MPs had also invited the Commissioner to host a round table event on mental health. This group included the KMPT Chief Executive and representatives of most Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) across the county and focussed on issues specific to policing, commissioning of future services and working together following the introduction of the Policing and Crime Act that prevents children from being held in police cells under S136 and adults only in extreme circumstances. The Commissioner explained that he was awaiting clarification on the definition of extreme circumstances.
- 3. The Commissioner was pleased to report that the street triage service was returning in limited form in Medway and Thanet from April, funded by the CCGs. The service will comprise of a mental health practitioner and police officer attending any incident where a person may have mental health issues and run Wednesday, Thursday and Friday nights in Medway and Friday, Saturday and Sunday in Thanet. The Commissioner added that both services would be for all ages
- 4. The Commissioner explained that both he and his predecessor had provided funding to reduce long waiting times for counselling sessions for child victims of sexual assault. Following engagement with CCGs, many had now agreed to take this on from the new financial year, so Commissioner funding would no longer 'prop up' a NHS statutory service.
- 5. The Commissioner's Mental Health and Policing Fund had opened, with £250k funding available for community groups and local authorities to bid into for new projects or the expansion of current services to help reduce demand on policing due to mental health. The Commissioner said that some money had already been allocated to those projects agreed last year, such as the continued presence of MIND counsellors in the Force Control Room, funding for two crisis cafes and the Medway safe haven bus. The Commissioner asked Panel Members to promote his fund where appropriate.
- 6. The Commissioner reaffirmed his commitment to the mental health and wellbeing of officers and staff, particularly in light of the recent Westminster attack and thanked those people who had taken time to write in or thank officers and staff for the job they do. He also referred to the longer term impact on the relatives, friends and colleagues of those involved in the Westminster attack, and those who witnessed it.
- 7. A Member thanked the Commissioner for his update, and asked if he was confident that alternative accommodation was available for young people in mental health crisis who could no longer be held in police cells? The Commissioner confirmed that the numbers were very low and that he was confident alternative accommodation would be found.

- 8. The Commissioner said he had undertaken training on the new legislation; this had given him confidence that officers were being equipped with the necessary training.
- 9. The Commissioner said there would be a new mental health team under the new policing model; there would be dedicated officers in addition to the street triage service.
- 10. In response to a question the Commissioner clarified that Kent Police and KMPT had put together a strategy which he had been consulted on and would be launched in June. As part of the governance arrangements, the Commissioner would be chairing a Mental Health and Policing Board at which he would be asking questions and holding them to account.
- 11. Referring to a question about information sharing the Commissioner confirmed that Kent Police did share information with the local authorities and the relationship was quite good, but sharing information with the NHS had been problematic, and this was something that needs work. Improving data sharing and data collection was one of the key ambitions of the new strategy that Kent Police and KMPT had put together.
- 12. The Chairman asked who would take on responsibility for young people who could not be looked after by the police. The Commissioner said it was necessary for the NHS to commission the right services. The Commissioner had provided funding for counselling for child victims of sexual assault. There was a need for a parity of esteem between mental health and physical health.
- 13. A Member asked whether the Commissioner found, from a policing perspective a difference between responses from CCG's across Kent. The Commissioner confirmed that he found the response variable. There were concerns about whether the right services are being commissioned.

RESOLVED that the Panel thank the Commissioner for his verbal update.

220. Public engagement plans (*Item B3*)

- The Commissioner introduced his report; he holds the Chief Constable to account but was accountable to the people of Kent and it was therefore incumbent for him to get out and about to ensure wherever people live, they are getting a good service.
- 2. The Commissioner said his website had changed. It was based on the template for the Force website, which had saved money, and was clearer and more accessible. The Commissioner had also embarked on new 'Question Time' events as well as visiting schools and he was keen to be accessible to as many of Kent and Medway's diverse communities as possible. The Commissioner offered his presence at any groups Members might be aware of.
- 3. A Member asked whether there would be an increase in visible policing. The Commissioner confirmed that was what he expected to see and that if it didn't

happen he would continue to hold the Chief Constable to account. The new policing model should release some demand on police officers to provide a more visible policing presence. The Commissioner explained that he went out on patrol with police officers to ensure they were not taken away from their regular duties in order to talk to him.

- 4. Another Member asked what plans the Commissioner had regarding engagement with Looked after Children (LAC) and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)? The Commissioner explained that he had done some work in this area; in addition there was a challenge in the county with LAC and UASC. The Commissioner was keen to take suggestions if there were particular groups Members were aware of which would like to discuss issues with him. The Commissioner did have concerns around the exploitation of young people, and was keen to ensure that he engaged with young people directly.
- 5. A Member referred to bullet point 1 on page 13, that the Commissioner would ensure concerns are listened to and acted upon, and asked how this would be done? The Commissioner explained that he kept records of issues raised so that he could see an overall picture of issues raised and acted on. He also ensured that local policing teams were aware so that they could take action where appropriate.
- 6. The Chairman was pleased that the Commissioner would be present at the Kent County show this year and was aware that the Youth Council would welcome the Commissioner's presence at a future meeting.

RESOLVED that the Police and Crime Panel thank the PCC for the report on actively engaging with residents in Kent and Medway.

221. Questions to the Commissioner (*Item B4*)

 My question relates to how useful the police in Kent and Medway find CCTV run by local authorities, and the value the police attach to the service in the light of possible alternative approaches to the use of technologies. This is also in the context of your statement that your policy of not funding local authority CCTV 'will not change'.

In particular how many suspects have been apprehended as a result of live monitoring by local authority CCTV and of these what percentage result in convictions? Can you also provide equivalent figures for passive viewing of CCTV? Has there been an increase in relevant crime figures where live monitoring has been discontinued? Similarly have the figures changed where CCTV monitoring, both live and passive, have been discontinued?

Finally what is your view on the deterrent value of CCTV? (Don Sloan)

2. The Commissioner confirmed that CCTV provided reassurance to residents and businesses and important evidence to the police.

- 3. It was the Commissioner's opinion that CCTV did provide a deterrent, but, given the funding pressures on councils, he knew that some had been reviewing and reducing their services, and some were clubbing together to provide a service. Some councils had applied to police forces for funding and it was extremely rare that any force made a contribution to CCTV. It was not a statutory requirement for police forces or Commissioners to provide CCTV funding. The Commissioner gives £500k to CSPs every year so he considered that they might wish to use some of this for CCTV. The Commissioner suggested the Member might wish to contact local authorities direct for any statistics.
- 4. The Commissioner considered that CCTV was important and that it did benefit residents and businesses but the police were also researching what other methods of evidence capture could be used such as dash cam footage for example.
- 5. The Member asked for clarification on the £500k to CSPs and the Commissioner confirmed that he gave a grant of £500k to CSPs across the county, and that some used part of this to fund CCTV. The Commissioner said he hoped that councils will continue to provide the service but he understood it had to be in context of pressures on councils.
- 6. The HMIC recently found that Kent Police was deemed as good in their recent review, which was reported in the local media. But the HMIC did state that Kent has a "significant problem" with how it works with victims of crime, having noticed "worrying overall trends" as more than one in five crime investigations (21.9%) failed to progress due to the victim not supporting police action. This places Kent Police as the second worst force in the country and is significantly higher than the national average (13.8%). They also reported a "considerable fall in victim satisfaction" over the last five years. The HMIC warned that these figures "suggest that the force has a significant problem with how it works and supports victims".

These results are not good for the victims of crime in Kent.

I would like to know what actions the Commissioner is taking to hold the Chief Constable to account to identify the reasons for why Kent Police are not supporting their victims, how they will ensure improved support and ensure that this support is sustainable. (Elaine Bolton)

7. The Commissioner confirmed that victims of crime were his top priority, and it was the top priority of Chief Constable to ensure they receive good service. Victim services and force performance had been raised at every Governance Board and the Force had been challenged to justify performance. Victims would continue to be raised at the Commissioner's new accountability meetings and also continue to form part of his challenge at weekly 1-1 meetings with the Chief Constable. HMIC had recognised that the Force had improved its response to vulnerability but there was always scope for further improvement and work continues with providers of victims' services to improve. The Commissioner said the statistic quoted relates to the decision of the victim not to pursue criminal charges, and could not be directly attributed to Force performance. The figure represents those who do not wish to take the matter further, or police attendance itself serves as the intervention the individual wanted. The Force recently undertook an audit and

survey of those who did not wish to pursue charges and found satisfaction with officers to be high. The Commissioner explained that from April 2017 the Home Office would no longer collect victim satisfaction data in the same way. He was pleased to note that the Member acknowledged the Force's good rating in this area, but there were a couple of issues identified for future action. The Commissioner pointed out that Kent Police was rated as good or outstanding by HMIC in every area of inspection in 2016 – one of only four forces in the country. He said that there was no room for complacency, and he expected improvements to continue with the new model, but HMIC quite rightly change their questions each year and he expected challenges in future years.

- 8. The Commissioner confirmed the results of the Force audit and survey would form part of his next accountability meeting and extended an invitation for Panel Members to attend.
- 9. Community Safety Partnership grant letters were distributed last month, and your sustained support for the CSPs is most welcome. However I'm becoming aware of Maidstone's CSP concerns and there may be similar concerns from other CSPs about your additional stipulation that funding must not duplicate areas where your office has a formally commissioned service in place, and vice versa. The concerns appear to be that:
 - a. It could potentially impact on the way CSPs operate and their ability to deliver priorities at the local level. Equally it could potentially impact on smaller local voluntary sector organisations in receipt of CSP grants to deliver community safety projects on CSPs' behalf.
 - b. It could limit opportunities for match funding arrangements. In particular it could limit opportunities for providing additional funding for local projects that CSPs have a greater demand for than the PCC funding allows, such as Maidstone's Urban Blue Bus.

Would you consider that perhaps an even more effective, efficient use of funds and delivery of priorities in the Police & Crime Plan could be better achieved by a more stringent focus on outcomes and/or more concisely assembled SLAs? (Fay Gooch)

- 10. The Commissioner explained that the Community Safety Partnerships would receive the same amount of money next financial year as last. The CSPs were free to spend this as they wished in support of the Police and Crime Plan's objectives. However, in the past some had been used to fund services he had commissioned elsewhere, or by someone else, which was inefficient for taxpayers. The stipulation about no duplicate funding had no impact on match funding bids, and he was aware that some CSPs had used his grant to match fund or to contribute to schemes that supported the Plan. In order to ensure the system was effective for all, including charities, councils and his office, he considered the funding should come via one mechanism rather than several so as not to spend taxpayers' money twice.
- 11. At a recent Parish Council meeting at Minster Parish Council serious concern was expressed at the lack of policing in the village and the regular incidence of feral youths in Tothill Street., The frustration is now very serious, at the same time St

Nicholas at Wade also expressed the same lack of Police support in long term dogging and Drug issues in the village, They believe that Police action is vital to resolve this issue. Can the Commissioner comment and explain what he is doing to hold the Chief Constable to account for delivering effective policing in rural areas. (Roger Latchford.)

- 12. The Commissioner was concerned to hear of the problems residents had been experiencing. The new Safer in Kent plan makes it clear that crime is important no matter where it takes place. The Crime Rural Advisory Group works alongside the Commissioner's office as an independent forum to assist the Force in addressing rural issues. The Rural Task Force, rural Special Constables, local PCSOs and Community Wardens are integral parts of the extended police family within rural communities. The Commissioner expressed his gratitude to Mr Latchford for raising the issues and confirmed that he had asked Kent Police to look into the matters and they would respond directly to Mr Latchford. The Commissioner said he did visit the areas in October and would visit again if it would be helpful.
- 13. Mr Latchford suggested that the Commissioner visited Minster Parish Council to discuss their concerns; the Commissioner confirmed that he would be happy to do this.

222. Commissioner's Decisions 013 & 014 (Item D1)

Regarding decision 13 – Mobile First, Integrated Software Procurement. A
Member asked for confirmation that if something was not suitable to Kent Police
that the contract would enable the Force to quickly replace or remedy the
problem. The Commissioner gave the assurance that there would be clauses
within the contract that if the service was not working for the Force they could get
out of the contract.

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner's Decisions.

223. Future work programme *(Item E1)*

RESOLVED that the Panel note the work programme.